IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

IN RE: DETENTION OF JACK LECK II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Respondent,

v.

JACK LECK II,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITSAP COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MAUREEN M. CYR Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State filed a petition alleging Jack Leck II should be committed indefinitely pursuant to chapter 71.09 RCW. The petition alleged Mr. Leck had a mental abnormality but not a personality disorder. But at the commitment trial, the jury was instructed it could commit Mr. Leck if it found he suffered from *either* a mental abnormality *or* a personality disorder. Because the jury was instructed on an alternative means that was not alleged in the petition, and because it is likely the jury relied upon the uncharged alternative, the commitment order must be reversed.

In addition, Mr. Leck's constitutional right to be present was violated when he was not allowed to attend the hearing at which the court found he committed a "recent overt act." His constitutional right to cross-examination was also violated when the State's expert relayed a highly prejudicial out-of-court statement but Mr. Leck never had an opportunity to cross-examine the declarant.

Finally, the State acted without statutory authority and violated Mr. Leck's constitutional right to due process when it filed its petition in Kitsap County but Mr. Leck was never convicted of a sexually violent offense in Washington State.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Mr. Leck's due process and statutory right to notice was violated when the jury was instructed on an alternative statutory means that was not alleged in the petition.
- 2. Mr. Leck's due process right to be present was violated when the court held a hearing and made a "recent overt act" finding without allowing Mr. Leck to be present at the hearing.
- 3. Mr. Leck's due process right to cross-examination was violated when the State's expert relayed a highly prejudicial out-of-court statement but Mr. Leck never had an opportunity to cross-examine the declarant.
 - 4. The State lacked statutory authority to file the petition.
- 5. Mr. Leck's constitutional right to due process was violated when the court found he committed a recent overt act.

C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

1. RCW 71.09.030 requires the State to file a petition "stating sufficient facts" to support its allegation that a person is a "sexually violent predator." In addition, individuals in chapter 71.09 RCW proceedings are entitled to the same fundamental due process protections as defendants in criminal trials. In a criminal trial, a

defendant's due process right to notice is violated if the jury is instructed on a statutory alternative means that is not alleged in the information. Was Mr. Leck's statutory and due process right to notice violated when the jury was instructed on an alternative means that was not alleged in the petition?

- 2. A person in a chapter 71.09 RCW proceeding has a constitutional due process right to be present. Was Mr. Leck's right to be present violated when the court found, based on disputed facts, that he committed a "recent overt act," but Mr. Leck was not allowed to be present at the hearing?
- 3. A person in a chapter 71.09 RCW proceeding has a constitutional due process right to cross-examine witnesses against him. Was Mr. Leck's constitutional right to cross-examination violated when the State's expert relayed a highly prejudicial out-of-court statement but Mr. Leck never had an opportunity to cross-examine the declarant?
- 4. Did the State act without statutory authority when it filed a petition in Kitsap County but Mr. Leck was never convicted of a sexually violent offense in Washington State?

5. Was Mr. Leck's constitutional right to due process violated where the court found he committed a recent over act based upon an act that occurred several years before the State filed its petition?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Background facts</u>.

Jack Leck II was born in December 1951. CP 16. In 1984 he was convicted in Alaska of "sexual abuse of a minor in the second degree" and "attempted sexual abuse of a minor in the second degree." CP 142-50. Those convictions amount to "sexually violent offenses" for purposes of chapter 71.09 RCW. CP 765.

The convictions arose out of encounters Mr. Leck had with five boys between the ages of 11 and 16. CP 172-77. A search of Mr.

One boy told police Mr. Leck performed fellatio on him once and took photographs of him another time, while he was sleeping and fully clothed. CP 173-74. Another boy testified Mr. Leck took nude photos of him and touched him "in an offensive manner." CP 175. A third boy testified he went to Mr. Leck's apartment, where he was given alcohol. CP 175. Once, Mr. Leck touched the boy's penis while masturbating. CP 175. Another time, the boy fell asleep and woke up nude while Mr. Leck was penetrating his anus with his penis. CP 175. A fourth boy testified he went to Mr. Leck's apartment, where Mr. Leck took several photographs of him, including nude photographs, then put his hand on the boy's penis and tried to masturbate him. CP 176. The fifth boy testified he went to Mr. Leck's apartment on two occasions. Once, Mr. Leck put his hand on the front of the boy's pants but the boy slapped his hand away. CP 177. Another time, Mr. Leck masturbated beside the boy. CP 177.

Leck's apartment had also uncovered a photo album containing photographs of nude adolescent boys. CP 172.

Mr. Leck was incarcerated on the convictions until July 1996, when he was released on parole. CP 190. He remained in the community until August 1997, when he was arrested for parole violations involving contact with children and failing to register. CP 381-84. Mr. Leck was seen throwing a frisbee to a boy eight to ten years of age who lived across the street from him. CP 382. A woman reported Mr. Leck was inside her apartment where her eight-year-old son was present. CP 382. A 16-year-old boy told police he had visited Mr. Leck's home for dinner and to watch television, and had ridden in his van. CP 382. Mr. Leck also reportedly had contact with two girls, aged seven and 13, and possessed order forms for photographs of children, some nude. CP 384. But there was no evidence Mr. Leck had sexual contact with any of the children or possessed any pornography.

Mr. Leck was next released to parole in July 2001. CP 386-88.

About two weeks later, he was arrested for accessing "a number of sexually related web sights [sic]" on a state-owned computer while searching for employment at the Juneau Employment Service. CP 388.

Mr. Leck was unconditionally released in September 2002. CP 191. In April 2003, an employee at the YMCA in Bremerton,
Washington, contacted police and told them Mr. Leck had applied for membership. CP 191. Police contacted the address Mr. Leck provided to the YMCA, which was for "World Peace Ambassadors," a charitable organization. CP 192. A man there said Mr. Leck had begun working at the organization about one week earlier and had access to one of the computers. CP 390-91. A search of the computer uncovered several images of minors engaged in sexually explicit conduct and "extensive records of internet searches for preteen girls and boys" conducted during the week Mr. Leck used the computer. CP 391. Mr. Leck was ultimately convicted in Kitsap County of 46 counts of possession of depictions of a minor engaged in sexually explicit conduct. CP 152-63.

2. <u>Chapter 71.09 RCW petition and motion to dismiss.</u>

On July 24, 2008, the Attorney General filed a petition in Kitsap County alleging Mr. Leck was a "sexually violent predator." CP 1-2.

² The petition stated:

Petitioner alleges Respondent is a sexually violent predator, as that term is defined in RCW 71.09.020(16), given the following:

^{1.} Respondent has been convicted of the following sexually violent offenses, as that term is defined in RCW 71.09.020(15)(b) and (d):

The State alleged, among other things, that Mr. Leck currently suffered from a "mental abnormality," namely pedophilia. CP 1-2. The petition did not allege Mr. Leck suffered from antisocial personality disorder or any other personality disorder.

Mr. Leck filed a motion to dismiss the petition for want of jurisdiction and probable cause. CP 67-113. He asserted the State was without statutory authority to file the petition in Kitsap County because he was never convicted of a "sexually violent offense" in Washington

These offenses are sexually violent offenses as they are comparable to felony offenses in Washington that are sexually violence offenses. RCW 71.09.020(15)(b). This is demonstrated in the Certification for Determination of Probable Cause filed in this matter.

- 2. Respondent currently suffers from:
- a. A mental abnormality, as that term is defined in RCW 71.09.020(8), specifically, Pedophilia, Sexually Attracted to Males, Nonexclusive Type.
- 3. Respondent's Pedophilia causes him to have serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior and makes him likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence unless confined to a secure facility.

CP 1-2.

a. On or about January 15, 1985, in the Superior Court of Alaska, Fourth District, in Fairbanks, Cause No. 4FA-S-84-1241CR, Respondent was convicted of one count of Attempted Sexual Abuse of a Minor in the Second Degree, in violation of AS 11.41.436, AS 11.31.100; and

b. On or about June 21, 1984 in the Superior Court of Alaska, Third Judicial District, in Anchorage, Cause No. 3An-S84-3245 CR, Respondent was convicted of on count of Sexual Abuse of a Minor in the Second Degree, in violation of AS 11.41.436(a)(1).

State. <u>Id</u>. He also argued he had been unlawfully detained beyond the five-year statutory maximum for his possession of child pornography convictions, and therefore the State was required to prove he committed a "recent overt act." CP 71.

After a hearing, the court found the State had authority to file the petition in Kitsap County and Mr. Leck was not unlawfully detained.³ The court found the State filed its petition in Thurston County on April 10, 2007, before the statutory maximum on the Kitsap County convictions expired on April 16, 2008. 3/10/09RP 33-34; CP 239. Mr. Leck stipulated to probable cause⁴ and at that point was not eligible for release. 3/10/09RP 33-34; CP 239.

3. Recent overt act hearing.

The State filed a motion arguing it need not prove to a jury that Mr. Leck committed a "recent overt act" because he was incarcerated at the time the petition was filed. CP 293-502. The State asked the court

³ A copy of the court's written findings and conclusions on the motion to dismiss is attached as appendix A.

⁴ Even if Mr. Leck stipulated to probable cause in Thurston County, he did not stipulate to probable cause when the State re-filed its petition in Kitsap County. As stated, probable cause was contested and the court entered a new order determining the existence of probable cause. CP 67-113, 214-37, 238-45.

to find, as a matter of law, that Mr. Leck's Kitsap County convictions for possession of child pornography were a recent overt act. CP 297.

In support of the motion, the State submitted an evaluation of Mr. Leck by its expert, Dr. Dale Arnold. CP 349-79. Dr. Arnold diagnosed Mr. Leck with pedophilia and antisocial personality disorder. CP 356. But the State never amended its petition to allege Mr. Leck suffered from antisocial personality disorder.

The defense submitted the evaluation of its own expert, Dr. Richard Wollert. Sub #204.⁵ Like Dr. Arnold, Dr. Wollert diagnosed Mr. Leck with antisocial personality disorder. <u>Id</u>. at 32. But Dr. Wollert disputed Dr. Arnold's diagnosis of pedophilia. <u>Id</u>. at 35. He also disputed that Mr. Leck met most of the other criteria for civil commitment. Id. at 36-42.

The court held a hearing on the State's motion. Counsel requested the hearing be continued so Mr. Leck could be present.

1/14/11RP 2-3. The court denied the motion, finding the issues presented were purely legal and therefore Mr. Leck had no right to be present.⁶ 1/14/11RP 4.

⁵ A supplemental designation of clerk's papers has been filed for this document.

⁶ Mr. Leck was permitted to listen in by telephone. 1/14/11RP 2-3.

The court found Mr. Leck's 2003 convictions for possession of child pornography were a recent overt act. CP 765-69. Mr. Leck disputed many of the relevant facts. Most important, he disputed that he had a "mental condition" that predisposed him to commit acts of sexual violence. Specifically, he disputed Dr. Arnold's diagnosis of pedophilia. The court attempted to avoid this dispute by making no finding regarding Mr. Leck's "mental condition." CP 765-69.

Mr. Leck disputed other facts on which the court relied. For example, the court found significant that Mr. Leck violated parole in 2002 by accessing pornography sites on a state-owned computer. CP 767. But Mr. Leck had explained to Dr. Wollert he did not actually access any pornography sites but instead submitted a resume to a site called "gaytruckers.com." Sub #204 at 25. "The word 'gay' flagged pop-ups," which were only about adults, not children. <u>Id</u>.

The court also found significant that in 2003, when Mr. Leck traveled to Bremerton, he applied for membership at the YMCA. CP 767. But Mr. Leck had explained to Dr. Wollert that he and his former partner Al often stayed at the YMCA when they traveled around the country in the 1970s, because "[m]ost YMCAs have large gay

⁷ A copy of the court's written findings and conclusions following the recent overt act hearing is attached as appendix B.

contingencies. That's why we stayed there or at the bathhouses." Sub #204 at 19.

Finally, the court found significant that, when Mr. Leck was arrested in 2003 at World Peace Ambassadors, police found a printed picture of a partially-nude boy torn into pieces in the trash can, and Mr. Leck told police he "had a problem" and was "trying so hard to stay away from this." CP 767. But Mr. Leck had explained to Dr. Wollert he tore up the picture because he had printed it by mistake; he "didn't want to have anything like that in my possession because I knew that physical possession of child pornography was illegal." Sub #204 at 27. He did not understand at the time that looking at the images on the computer was a crime; he thought only *physically possessing* the images was a crime. Id. at 26. In regard to his statement to police, Mr. Leck told Dr. Wollert his "intention was to let the officer know that I had been trying to stay away from all contact with law enforcement officers—it had nothing to do with the computer images." Id.

4. <u>Commitment trial</u>.

After a first trial resulted in a hung jury, a second trial was held in August 2011. Dr. Arnold testified he diagnosed Mr. Leck with pedophilia and antisocial personality disorder. 8/08/11RP 230. He

explained Mr. Leck's pedophilia was "nonexclusive" in that he was attracted to both children and adults. 8/08/11RP 239-40. A person attracted to both children and adults is more likely to benefit from treatment and is probably a lower risk to reoffend. 8/08/11RP 241.

Dr. Arnold based his diagnosis of pedophilia on Mr. Leck's sexual contact with several children from 1978 to the early 1980s; his possession of child pornography; his statement to Dr. Arnold that he would probably have a sexual interest in children for the rest of his life; his sexual contact with his sister as an adolescent; the fact he "groomed" the boys he molested, meaning he formed relationships with them and introduced sex slowly into the relationships; the fact he orally copulated the boys, which shows he was sexually aroused by the children and not simply by the sexual act itself; and the fact he had requested chemical castration in the past in order to help manage his urges. 8 8/08/11RP 244-66. Dr. Arnold acknowledged that Mr. Leck's admission that he would probably have sexual urges toward children for the rest of his life is a significant step toward successful treatment, which is all about managing urges. 8/08/11RP 259, 269.

⁸ The information about Mr. Leck relayed by Dr. Arnold was admitted only to evaluate the credibility of the doctor's opinion and not for the truth of the matters asserted. 8/08/11RP 242-43.

Dr. Arnold based his diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder on Mr. Leck's failure to abide by the law and numerous arrests over the years for various property and other nonviolent crimes; his difficulty complying with parole conditions; his indiscriminate untruthfulness; his impulsivity and irresponsibility; his reckless disregard for the safety of himself and others; and his lack of remorse. 8/08/11RP 275-81.

Dr. Arnold testified Mr. Leck's pedophilia created the urge to molest children and his antisocial personality disorder interfered with the ability to resist the urge. 8/08/11RP 287-88. Both disorders together predisposed Mr. Leck to commit criminal sexual acts. 8/08/11RP 288. Therefore, Mr. Leck had *both* a mental abnormality and a personality disorder that caused him serious difficulty controlling his behavior. 8/08/11RP 289-91.

In Dr. Arnold's opinion, Mr. Leck was more likely than not to reoffend. 8/08/11RP 291-83, 337-38. The doctor acknowledged Mr. Leck's scores on the actuarial tools would go down when he reached the age of 60 in a few months. 8/08/11RP 332. But even then, Mr. Leck would be more likely than not to reoffend. 8/08/11RP 332.

Mr. Leck admitted he had sexual contact with several children in the late 1970s and early 1980s. 8/09/11RP 557, 563. But most of

his sexual experience had been with other men; he had several homosexual relationships, including one that lasted several years.

8/09/11RP 555-58, 563-64. Mr. Leck did not understand at the time he had sexual contact with children that it harmed them. 8/09/11RP 566.

Once he realized that, he vowed to have no more sexual contact with children. 8/09/11RP 567. He no longer had strong urges that made him feel compelled to molest children. 8/10/11RP 635-37. He had not had sexual contact with a child since the early 1980s; if released, he would have no sexual contact with children. 8/10/11RP 638.

Consistent with Mr. Leck's testimony, the record contains no evidence he had any sexual contact with a child since the early 1980s.

Mr. Leck also acknowledged he searched for child pornography on the computer at World Peace Ambassadors in 2003. 8/09/11RP 583-84. He knew it was against the law to "possess" physical images of children in sexually explicit poses but did not realize it was a crime to view such images on the internet. 8/09/11RP 583-84. Although he participated in sex offender treatment in the 1990s, the subject of child pornography never came up. 8/09/11RP 605; 8/10/11RP 711. He did not think there was a connection between viewing child pornography and the risk of reoffense. 8/09/11RP 606. But now he understood that

possession of child pornography is not a victimless crime. 8/10/11RP 635-36. If released, he would not search for child pornography. 8/10/11RP 635-36. The parties stipulated that, although Mr. Leck's room at the Special Commitment Center was searched many times, he was never caught with pornography. CP 912-13.

Dr. Wollert, Mr. Leck's expert, testified Mr. Leck did not have a "mental abnormality" for purposes of the statute but did have antisocial personality disorder. 8/10/11RP 753. He probably had pedophilia in the 1980s but no longer had that disorder because he no longer had intense urges regarding children and had no contact sex offenses since the early 1980s. 8/10/11RP 756-57. Possession of child pornography is not correlated in the scientific literature with contact sex offenses. 8/10/11RP 757. Finally, Dr. Wollert explained Mr. Leck's advanced age put him at a lower risk of reoffense. 8/10/11RP 761. Mr. Leck was not more likely than not to reoffend if released. 8/10/11RP 782.

Dr. Arnold testified in rebuttal to Dr. Wollert's testimony. Dr. Arnold testified that in 2003 when Mr. Leck viewed sexually explicit images of children on the internet, he was in the fantasy stage of the "reoffense cycle," moving toward possible reoffense. 8/15/11RP 1043. After the fantasy stage comes the opportunity stage. 8/15/11RP 1043.

Dr. Arnold explained that Mr. Leck's application to the YMCA was significant because he had met boys there before and "the other reason I think it's particularly important, is because that's how he was really caught in 2003 is because his sister knew that he had this pattern of contacting YMCAs, and she informed local law enforcement to watch out for him." 8/15/11RP 1043. At that point, counsel objected, arguing the evidence was inadmissible hearsay and overly prejudicial.

8/15/11RP 1044-45. Outside the presence of the jury, the court ruled the sister's out-of-court statement was admissible because Dr. Arnold relied upon it to form his opinion. 8/15/11RP 1045. But the court did not instruct the jury when it returned on the limited purpose of the evidence. 8/15/11RP 1045-46. Dr. Arnold then elaborated that Mr. Leck's sister had predicted he would apply to the YMCA when he moved to Bremerton. 8/15/11RP 1046.

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