COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

JACK LECK,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF

ROBERT M. MCKENNA Attorney General

SARAH SAPPINGTON
Senior Counsel
WSBA #14514
Attorney General's Office
Criminal Justice Division
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 389-2019

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State accepts Leck's Statement of the Case except as otherwise noted below.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Where Leck neither proposed jury instructions of his own, nor objected to those proposed adopted by the trial court, and where he had at least 11 months' actual notice that the State alleged the presence of a personality disorder, and where his own expert agreed that he suffered from an Antisocial Personality Disorder, were Leck's rights to due process violated by inclusion of a jury instruction referencing "mental abnormality or personality disorder"?
- 2. Where Leck was telephonically present at a hearing involving purely legal matters, did the trial court abuse its discretion where it denied Leck's motion to continue that hearing to allow Leck to be physically present?
- 3. Where an expert is permitted to testify as to the basis of that expert's opinion, did the trial court abuse its discretion in permitting Dr. Arnold to testify regarding the significance of Leck's application for membership in the YMCA?
- 4. Where Leck was convicted of 46 counts of Possession of Depictions of a Minor Engaged In Sexually Explicit Conduct in Kitsap County, did the State properly file a sex predator petition against him in that county?

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Court's Instructions Did Not Violate Leck's Rights To Due Process

Leck argues that his due process rights were violated because the Court submitted an instruction that permitted the jury to commit him based on the presence of a "mental abnormality or personality disorder" although the State, in its petition, alleged only that he suffered from a mental abnormality. App. Br. at 21. Because Leck made no objection to the jury instructions to which he now objects, had ample notice that the State alleged both conditions, and did not contest the presence of this condition, this argument fails.

1. Leck Has Waived Any Challenge To The Jury Instructions

Although Leck frames his challenge as one of notice involving principles of due process, his argument is essentially a challenge to the jury instructions issued by the trial court. Because he did not raise this claim at the time of trial, he has waived this arguments and this Court should decline to consider them.

An appellant must take exception to a jury instruction at trial to preserve the issue for appeal. *State v. Salas*, 127 Wn.2d 173, 181, 897 P.2d 1246 (1995); CR 51(f); RAP 2.5(a). That rule, as the *Salas*

Court noted it had explained "clearly and often," "is not a mere technicality." 127 Wn.2d at 181.

CR 51(f) requires that, when objecting to the giving or refusing of an instruction, "[t]he objector shall state distinctly the matter to which he objects and the grounds of his objection." The purpose of this rule is to clarify, at the time when the trial court has before it all the evidence and legal arguments, the exact points of law and reasons upon which counsel argues the court is committing error about a particular instruction.

Therefore, the objection must apprise the trial judge of the precise points of law involved and when it does not, those points will not be considered on appeal.

Id., 127 Wn.2d at 181, citing *State v. Bailey*, 114 Wn.2d 340, 345, 787 P.2d 1378 (1990) (internal citations omitted). Opposing parties should have an opportunity at trial to respond to allegations of error "rather than facing newly asserted errors or new theories and issues for the first time on appeal." *In re Detention of Audett*, 158 Wn.2d 712, 726, 147 P.3d 982 (2006).

Prior to trial, the State submitted a packet of proposed jury instructions. 8/15/11 at 1073. Leck did not submit any jury instructions of his own and did not take exception to the instructions referencing the term "personality disorder." As such, this argument has been waived.

¹ Leck's only objection to the State's proposed instructions related to certain instructions that he characterized as "extraneous" insofar as they contained "references to certain adult crimes that didn't involve children." 8/15/11 RP at 1073. The State

2. Even If Permitted To Contest The Court's Instructions, Leck Has Not Shown Error Or Prejudice

An exception to the general rule that errors cannot be raised for the first time on appeal exists where appellant is able to show a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3). Salas, 127 Wn.2d at 183; State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 899 P.2d 1251 (1955). Although Leck claims that his rights to due process were violated, he has provided little beyond that bare assertion, and has not demonstrated that any constitutional rights are implicated.

Jury instructions are sufficient when they allow parties to argue their case theories, do not mislead the jury, and, when taken as a whole, properly inform the jury of the law to be applied. Cox v. Spangler, 141 Wn.2d 431, 442, 5 P.3d 1265 (2000). An instruction which follows the words of a statute is proper unless the statutory language is not reasonably clear or is misleading. Borromeo v. Shea, 138 Wn. App. 290, 294, 156 P.3d 946 (2007). Whether an instruction which accurately states the law should not be given to avoid confusion is a matter within the trial court's discretion, not to he disturbed absent abuse. Griffin v. West RS, Inc., 143 Wn.2d 81, 91, 18 P.3d 558 (2001) citing Douglas v. Freeman, 117 Wn.2d 242, 256-57, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991).

responded to this by removing two instructions related to definitions of rape in the first and second degrees. *Id.* at 1074, 1076.

Even if an instruction is misleading, the party asserting error still bears the burden to establish consequential prejudice. *Goodman v. Boeing Co.*, 75 Wn. App. 60, 68, 877 P.2d 703 (1994), *aff'd*, 127 Wn.2d 401, 899 P.2d 1265 (1995).

Assuming, *arguendo*, that Leck is correct in asserting error, any error was harmless. In all likelihood, Leck failed to raise his argument regarding notice or to object to the jury instructions at the time of trial because it was not, in fact, an issue at all: Despite the fact that the State's Petition did not mention Leck's personality disorder, Leck had ample notice that the State would be presenting evidence of the presence of a personality disorder at trial, and the presence of an Antisocial Personality Disorder was not in fact disputed at trial.

The State's case was filed in Kitsap County on July 24, 2008. CP at 3. Dr. Arnold's report had been completed more than two years earlier, on January 25, 2006 CP at 16-56.² It was provided to the defense no later than December 10 2008, as indicated by the report submitted by Dr. Wollert, attached to Leck's December 19, 2008 Motion to Dismiss. CP at 67-113. Dr. Arnold's initial report indicated that, while antisocial traits had been "noted," and while Leck had been diagnosed with

 $^{^{\}rm 2}$ The State had initially filed the case in Thurston County on April 10, 2007. CP at 8.

personality disorders in the past, he could not, in the absence of a current clinical interview, assign a diagnosis of Personality Disorder. CP at 49. Dr. Arnold submitted a second report in September of 2010. This time, with the benefit of a personal interview, he was able to diagnose a personality disorder. CP at 356. Thus the record demonstrates that, at the very latest, Leck had notice that the State's expert had diagnosed a personality disorder no later than 11 months before trial.³

Had Leck in fact been surprised by this diagnosis at trial, his counsel could have objected to the State's submission of evidence on this issue and requested a continuance in order to respond. CR 15(b). The State could then have submitted amended pleadings pursuant to CR 15(a) (leave to amend to be "given freely when justice so requires"). Leck was, however, clearly not surprised. He did not object when the subject of Leck's personality disorder was initially raised (8/8/11 RP at 229), and nothing in his cross examination on the issue of personality disorder suggested surprise or lack of notice. 8/8/11 RP at 371-384.

This is in all probability because Leck did not dispute Dr. Arnold's diagnosis of an Antisocial Personality Disorder. His expert, Dr. Wollert,

³ It is perhaps useful to note that, between the time of Dr. Arnold's second report and this trial, there had been a previous trial. Although the record in that case is not before this Court, it is reasonable to assume that this earlier trial provided Leck with ample opportunity to fully explore the State's case, including the opinions of the State's expert.

first assigned that diagnosis in his November 4, 2010 report, at least three months prior to the first trial. CP at 1646. He then testified extensively regarding that diagnosis at trial. 8/10/11 RP at 753; 8/11/11 RP at 838-865, passim. From Leck's perspective, the question was not whether he suffered from an Antisocial Personality Disorder, but whether that position made him likely to reoffend. 8/11/11 RP at 838. This is illustrated by defense counsel's closing, in which he argued that Leck "may have an antisocial personality disorder, but that does not make him incapable of making choices. He still has some free will." 8/15/11 RP at 1133. There was no error, and Leck's argument must be rejected.⁴

B. Leck Was Not Denied Due Process When The Trial Court Denied Leck's Motion To Continue A Hearing On Trial Court's Reconsideration Of A Prior Ruling Involving Purely Legal Arguments

Leck next argues that his rights to due process were denied because he was not permitted to be present at a hearing on January 14, 2011 where "disputed facts" were at issue. App. Br. at 9. This argument fails. Although Leck attempts to elevate this issue to one of constitutional proportions, the question, properly framed, is simply

⁴ Finally, although Leck does not argue that his right to a unanimous jury was violated by the offending instruction, such an argument would clearly fail. In light of Dr. Arnold's testimony regarding the presence of Pedophilia, and the two experts' agreement on the presence of an Antisocial Personality Disorder, there was substantial evidence to support each, and Leck's right to unanimity was not violated. *See In re Halgren*, 156 Wn. 2d 795, 132 P.3d 714 (2006).

whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying Leck's motion to continue a hearing on the State's motion for reconsideration of a prior ruling at which purely legal issues were to be considered. Because the trial court acted well within its discretion in denying Leck's request to continue the hearing in order to allow him to be physically present at a purely legal hearing, his argument fails.

1. Procedural History

In October of 2010, the State filed a motion asking the trial court to make a ruling on the question of whether Leck's June 30, 2003 conviction for Possession of Depictions of Minors Engaged In Sexually Explicit Conduct qualified as a recent overt act (ROA) as a matter of law, thereby relieving the State of proving a recent overt act at trial pursuant to *In re Detention of Marshall*, 156 Wn.2d 150, 1125 P.3d 111(2005). CP at 293-502. In its motion, the State outlined Leck's criminal history, which included a 1984 conviction for Sexual Abuse of a Minor in the Second Degree involving a 13-year-old boy, and a 1985 conviction for Attempted Sexual Abuse of a Minor in the Second Degree involving a 12-year-old boy. CP at 293-295. Both of these convictions occurred in Alaska. In addition, the motion detailed Leck's conviction in Kitsap County for 46 counts of Possession of Depictions of Minors Engaged in Sexually Explicit Conduct for which he was incarcerated on the date the sexually

violent predator petition was filed. CP at 296-297. Attached to the motion were roughly 200 pages of documents, including 2 reports by the State's expert, Dr. Dale Arnold (CP 306-379); parole violation reports from 1997 and 2001 (CP 381-388), and the Verdict on Submission of Stipulated Facts for Leck's 2003 conviction, to which documents related to that conviction were attached. CP 390-502.

A hearing on the State's motion took place on November 5, 2010.⁵ The court heard argument, although it indicated that it had not read the State's pleadings because it had not received a response from Leck who, through counsel, indicated that he would simply respond orally. 11/5/2010 RP at 2. At no point during that hearing did Leck's attorney indicate that Leck wished to be present, whether physically or by telephone.

The parties next met on November 30, 2010 in order to hear the court's decision on the State's ROA motion. Both Leck and the State's attorney appeared telephonically. 11/30/2010 RP at 2-3. The trial court denied the State's motion, stating that, because the parties' experts held conflicting opinions regarding Leck's mental condition—resulting in a disputed material fact—summary judgment could not be granted. *Id.* at 11.

⁵ The trial court had actually considered and ruled on this issue as part of its May 13, 2009 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Orders re: Probable Cause, Custodial Evaluation and Motion to Dismiss. CP at 244, No. 13. At the hearing on November 11, 2010, the State indicated that the procedure that preceded entry of that Order made unclear whether Leck had had a full opportunity to brief and argue that issue. 11/5/2010 RP at 3.

Following the trial court's oral ruling on November 30, the State filed a motion for reconsideration, arguing that the trial court had erroneously applied a summary judgment standard (genuine dispute of material fact) to the ROA analysis. CP at 1649-1659. A hearing on the State's reconsideration motion took place on January 14, 2011, at which Leck appeared telephonically. 1/14/2011 RP at 2. After the court had established that Leck could hear the attorneys, his attorney asked that the hearing be continued in order to allow Leck to be present, indicating that "Mr. Leck did wish to be here today...and ... I think his request would be to continue this with his ability to be present, but we'll leave that to Your Honor." *Id.* at 2-3. In asking that the hearing be continued, Leck's attorney objected to the characterization of the hearing as "purely legal," noting that "there are certain assertions, for example, made in Ms. Boerger's argument," and stating that "[h]aving Mr. Leck here, to me, is always helpful, because he's a constant reminder of things factual, which are important to this case, as are the legal." *Id.* at 3-4.

The trial court, in denying the motion to continue, stated that "the determination that I ultimately have to make here and that I made in December [sic] and I'm now reconsidering, has to be made *based on the paper record* that's presented to the Court. It's not something that I can take testimony on," and adding that [i]f, at the conclusion of today's

argument, Mr. Naon feels the need to submit any additional materials for my consideration on the merits of the motion, I'll consider that request at the time." 1/14/2011 RP at 4 (emphasis added). Noting that he understood Leck's desire to be personally present, the court observed that "[w]e're getting awfully close to the trial date here" and that, "since I'm reviewing this based on a record that's already been submitted," the motion to continue would be denied. *Id.* The trial court, in making his ruling, indicated that it would rely on only those facts which were not controverted. *Id.* at 28, 29.

After the hearing, the court entered written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. The court found that:

- 6. Shortly after his release from prison in July 2001, Respondent violated his parole conditions again by accessing pornographic websites on a state-owned computer. His parole was revoked and he was returned to prison in Alaska until September 2002.
- 7. In April 2003, Bremerton police learned that Respondent had traveled to Bremerton and had applied for a membership at a local YMCA. When Bremerton police officers investigated the address Respondent provided to the YMCA, they found a local charitable organization where Respondent had been volunteering for about a week. The officers were advised that Respondent had access to one of the company's computers and an authorized search of the computer revealed images of child pornography, including images of young girls and boys engaged in sexually explicit conduct. Police also found a printed picture of a partially-nude boy torn into pieces in a trash can in the office that Respondent was using. When

confronted by police officers, Respondent spontaneously stated that "he had a problem" and that he had been "trying so hard to stay away from this."

8. On or about June 30, 2003, Respondent was convicted of 46 counts of Possession of Depictions of Minors Engaged in Sexually Explicit Conduct in Kitsap County Superior Court Cause No. 03-1-00591-4.

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